IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 85,693

TIMOTHY CURTIS HUDSON,,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KENNETH DAVID DRIGGS Florida Bar No. 0304700 229 Chapel Drive Tallahassee, Florida 32304

(904) 575-2988

M. ELIZABETH WELLS Florida Bar No. 0866067 376 Milledge Avenue Atlanta, Georgia 30312 (404) 614-2014

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the appeal of a resentencing to death in a capital case. Tim Hudson was convicted and sentenced to death in Hillsborough County on February 6, 1987. On the first direct appeal this court affirmed Mr. Hudson's conviction and death sentence, with three justices dissenting as to the death sentence Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1989) (hereinafter Hudson Hudson tulden. In a separate opinion, Justices Barkett and Kogan found death to be a disproportionate sentence on the record as it Stood. Hudson I, 538 So.2d at 832-33 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court denied certiorari later in the year. <a href="Hudson v. Hudson v

In post-conviction the circuit court found that Mr. Hudson's punishment phase trial counsel had provided ineffective representation in that he had failed to adequately investigate and present extensive mitigation in Mr. Hudson's background. On appeal this court affirmed. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1993) (hereinafter Hudson II).

Mr. Hudson's punishment phase was retried before a new jury on March 20-25, 1995. The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three, and a second death sentence was imposed by the

At the first trial "[Mr.] Hudson [did] not contest the state's finding two aggravating factors, previous conviction of a violent felony and committed during an armed burglary. ... The trial court found, but gave little weight to, the statutory mitigating factors of being under extreme mental or emotional disturbance, impaired capacity to conform conduct to requirements of law, and Hudson's age (22 years)." Hudson I, 538 So.2d at 831 n 5.

circuit court. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of June 17, 1986, Mollie Ewing was stabbed to death in her Tampa home.

Ms. Ewings' roommate, Becky Collins, had recently been living with and was engaged to marry the defendant, Mr. Tim Hudson. Their relationship broke down over Mr. Hudson's addiction to crack cocaine. Ms. Collins observed that cocaine made Mr. Hudson, normally a courteous man towards her, hostile and quick to anger. The victim knew Mr. Hudson through Ms. Collins, and he had often been a guest in her house. There were no indications of animosity between them, but the victim apparently knew of threats which resulted in Ms. Collins spending the night elsewhere.

On the evening of the murder, Mr. Hudson used cocaine with his cousins, Anthony and Gerald Bembow, who were heavy drug users. Their house was a short walk from the home of Ms. Collins and the victim. After leaving their residence, he went to the victim's home. Upon his entering the house, the victim recognized and confronted Mr. Hudson. She apparently began screaming at him to leave, and Mr. Hudson stabbed her four times in an attempt to quiet her screams.

In Mr. Hudson's first direct appeal, this Court divided 4-3 on a proportionality review. The majority opinion suggested Mr. Hudson's situation was "arguably a close **call,"** Hudson I, 538 So. 2d at 832. A dissent distinguished Mr. Hudson's situation from

that of the worst offenders deemed worthy of the death penalty.

BARKETT, Justice, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur as to guilt and dissent as to sentencing. In his sentencing order, the trial judge made the following findings:

The facts of the case, as produced by the evidence, indicate that the defendant, TIMOTHY CURTIS HUDSON, was apparently surprised by the victim during the defendant's burglarizing of the home owned by the victim and shared with the defendant's ex-girlfriend....

. . . .

The extensive testing done by Dr. Berland on the defendant together with the circumstances of the surprise of the defendant during the burglary when confronted by the victim, convinces the Court that at the time of the killing and for at least a short period thereafter, the defendant was unable, to a certain extent, to conform his conduct ot the requirements of the law...

In light of our prior case law, I cannot conclude that the death penalty is proportionate under these facts. As was stated in the seminal case of State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1973), the death penalty is reserved "to only the most aggravated and unmitigated of most serious crimes." In light of the trial judge's explicit findings, I conclude that the murder in this case is not within the category of crimes described in Dixon.

KOGAN, J., concurs.

Hudson I, 538 So. 2d at 832-33.

Additional mitigating evidence, presented in Mr. Hudson's resentencing, supports the dissent's conclusion that "the murder in this case is not within the category of crimes described in Dixon.

Becky Collins first met Tim Hudson in 1984 and a romance quickly developed. They became engaged to marry and lived

together. But Mr. Hudson got involved with drugs which his girlfriend strongly opposed. "He wouldn't seem to leave it alone," she testified. They argued over this and the fact that Mr. Hudson was staying out all night and hanging out with his drug buddies. R. V 185-87.

Finally, Ms. Collins decided she could not deal with the drug addiction any longer and told Mr. Hudson she wanted to break up in March or April 1986. She then moved back in with the victim. Mr. Hudson began calling Ms. Collins on the phone daily, suspicious that she was seeing other men. Ms. Collins testified that Mr. Hudson "would ask me if I was seeing anybody...", and would get incensed when she denied that she was seeing other men. R. V 187-89, 199-200.

Shortly bfore this homicide, Mr. Hudson was jailed for a violation of probation. When Mr. Hudson was about to be released from jail Ms. Collins was frightened. Mr. Hudson had relayed messages through a co-worker, Jasmine Robertson, which scared her. Mr. Hudson called Ms. Collins at work the day of the murder, but she hung up on him. When he called back, someone else took the call and also hung up on him. That night, Ms. Collins did not stay at the victim's home but was with another friend. Early the next morning she went by the house. Seeing the condition of the victim's bedroom and the presence of the victim's glasses and cigarettes, Ms. Collins knew something was wrong. R. V 192-95.

On cross examination Ms. Collins said when she first met Mr.

Hudson he was polite and well mannered. They had a good relationship. By summer 1985 she was happy enough to move in with him, an arrangement which lasted about six months. Mr. Hudson was considerate both to her and to their neighbors. During this time, Mr. Hudson worked at Bennigans and Kentucky Fried Chicken. R. V 195-96, 200-1.

Then Mr. Hudson began hanging around another apartment complex resident whom she knew used cocaine. His moods changed. He quit working. He borrowed money from her and insisted that she drive him to where drugs were sold. Finally he confessed that he was doing crack cocaine. They talked about this and he promised to seek treatment. "He said he would go if I got him an appointment." They contacted Tampa area treatment facilities, but were told the waiting list for available treatment was months long. Things just continued to spiral downward. Mr. Hudson began to anger easily. He began living on the streets. He began telling Ms. Collins strange things such as claiming he worked for the mafia. It was during this period that Mr. Hudson first became abusive. R. V 196-99.

Ms. Collins testified that Hudson's threats, abusiveness, and jealousy were never a part of their relationship before he became involved with cocaine. To her, Mr. Hudson became a completely different person when involved with cocaine. He no longer sounded like the man she had become engaged to. But even with her bad experiences she could not believe that Mr. Hudson had anything to do with the victim's disappearance when she first

heard of it. R. V 200-1.

Jasmin Robertson, a co-worker of Ms. Collins and the victim, testified to taking calls during this period from Mr. Hudson in which he left messages for Ms. Collins. The night of the murder she chanced on Mr. Hudson out front of her apartment where they talked briefly in the dark. This was three or four blocks from the victim's home. After the conversation she observed Mr. Hudson heading toward Gerald Bimbo's apartment. She knew Mr. Bimbow to be a drug dealer. R. V 202-7.

Detective Rick Childers testified that as part of the investigation of the disappearance of Mollie Ewings, he and Detective Fletcher went to Mr. Hudson's mother's residence at 3312 McBerry at 4:20 p.m. on June 18, 1986. His mother answered the door and let them in where they found Mr. Hudson asleep on the couch. They woke him and he jumped up, appearing startled. He was then cooperative and agreed to accompany them to the police department for questioning. R. V 215, 253-55.

Mr. Hudson was first interviewed at the police department beginning at 5:55 p.m. on June 18, 1986. R. V 215, 256. In the next 24 hours Mr. Hudson quickly told the police Ms. Ewing was dead but gave three different stories which inched closer to and finally became a full and complete confession. R. V 227, 230. At first Mr. Hudson told of being with a man named Greg, R. V 215-18 and 256, then about being with a man named Warren Peabody, R. V 223-36. The Peabody account had Peabody killing Ms. Ewing and Mr. Hudson with him when the body was left in the country. Mr.

Hudson led police to the body where he then admitted "there is no Peabody," that he was Peabody.' R. V 239-40, 260-61.

Det. Noblitt testified to Mr. Hudson's becoming physically ill when he showed police Ms. Ewing's body. "He was somewhat nauseated. He said that he was feeling sick to his stomach." R. v 239-40. Det. Childers also testified that Mr. Hudson was upset and cried as he showed police the body. R. V 260-61.

Back at the police department Mr. Hudson made a full confession which Det. Noblett described for the jury:

[Mr. Hudson] said that he went to the house, he had taken this knife, that he knew that the back door would be open. He went in and he went down the hallway. He walked into Molly's room. She immediately saw him. He saw her. She screamed at him to get out of there. She continued to scream. He said while she was screaming he began to stab her. He didn't know how many times but it was more than once.

He said that after he stabbed her he then carried her out the back door through the wooden gate, put her in her vehicle. He said that he drove to Wimauma, that he got rid of her body.

He said that he went to Baum first and he was going to put her where the green blanket was but he heard noise and thought somebody was coming so he put her back in the vehicle. Then he went to Wimauma and placed her where we found her.

He said that he then went back to 34th and Osborne where he left her vehicle and he obtained some cocaine. He went back home. He changed clothes. He then went out to discard the car out **by** Sligh and 301 and he said that he walked back to his residence where he got back around 11:00

²The Peabody account has both Mr. Hudson and Mr. Peabody buying and smoking cocaine before the murder. R. V 223-224. The body was located near tomato fields in an agricultural area 35 miles from the murder scene. R. V 242.

The trial court in <u>Hudson I</u> concluded that the victim had surprised Mr. Hudson by being at the home. **538 So.2d** at 832.

[a.m.] or 12:00 [noon] that day.

R. V 241-42; 261-62. During this confession, Mr. Hudson told police his going to the house had nothing to do with Ms. Ewing, that to the extent he had a plan it was to confront Ms. Collins, and that the murder came when the victim screamed. R. V 247.

Tampa Police Detective Robert H. Price recalled Mr. Hudson's initial story about "Warren Peabody" which none of the officers believed. It was Det. Price who took Mr. Hudson aside at Robinson High School and gave him the "good Christian burial" talk which ultimately resulted in the confession and location of the body. R. VI 380-83. He testified to Mr. Hudson's reaction to this: "... he was emotional. He was upset. He was afraid ..." R. VI 385. As the group neared the location of the body Mr. Hudson's emotions churned further:

The closer we got, the more emotional he became. It was my opinion he was having to face the situation that he was involved in. I think his biggest fear to me personally, I feel he just did not want to see the body.

R. VI 385. Before Mr. Hudson would agree to take the officers to Ms. Ewing's body he extracted a promise:

One of the things he requested was if I take you there, please don't make me stay long. I mean let me get out of there just as soon as possible. Promise me you don't make me stay long, and, again, that was no problem.

R. VI 386. As they traveled in a police van to the body's location Mr. Hudson's emotions remained high. Det. Price noticed him hiding his face in the curtains in the van. He went on to

See <u>Hudson I</u>, 538 **So.2d** at 830.

testify:

I think he was ashamed of himself at the time. I think he was embarrassed of the fact that he wanted to cry very hard. In fact, I told him, there's no shame in crying very hard.

R. VI 386.

Mr. Hudson did direct them to Ms. Ewing's body. She was in such a remote rural location Det. Price felt police never would have found her without Mr. Hudson's assistance. "She was further out than I had ever been before." R. VI 387-88.

Dr. Charles Diggs performed the autopsy on the victim on June 21, 1986, a bit less than three days after the murder. Dr. Diggs testified that the victim died from four downward angle stab wounds to her upper chest, apparently coming in quick succession. The wounds were each two to three inches deep and they appeared to have come from the same 5/8th inch wide knife. The resulting internal bleeding would have produced shock and relatively quick death. The victim could have been conscious about two minutes and possibly as little as 20 seconds. Dr. Diggs testified that he could only speculate as to how long she was conscious. Death would come about the same time the victim lost consciousness and each wound was fatal by itself. R. VI 297-310.

The doctor could not find "anything which would say that a struggle took place." The only indication of a defensive wound was a laceration on the victim's fifth finger indicating that she "might have come in contact with the knife blade at one point in time " The placement of the wounds did indicate that "she's moving while the person is stabbing" or that "you could have

movement of both." R. VI 305-7.

To develop its mitigation the defense presented testimony from Mr. Hudson's father Daniel, R. VI 311-24; his younger sister Deborah Hudson, R. VI. 334-43; his Little League baseball coach Charles Bedford, R. VI 324-34; a prison counselor named Littleton Long, R. VI 343-50; two drug friends who often observed Mr. Hudson under the influence of cocaine including the night of the murder, Anthony Jerome Bembow, R. VI 351-56, and Gerald Bembow, R. VI 371-79; another drug friend named Kelly Doster, R. VI 356-70; a Tampa police detective who took Mr. Hudson's confession, Robert H. Price, R. VI 380-88; and a defense mental health expert, psychiatrist Dr. Michael Maher, R. VI 389-482. In addition Mr. Hudson introduced for the judge's consideration the prior cross-examined testimony of mental health experts Dr. Robert Berland⁵, Dr. Peter Macaluso⁶, and Dr. Charles Wheaten⁷. Finally, Mr. Hudson offered the entire defense punishment phase

Dr. Berland, a psychologist, had been a defense witness in Mr. Hudson's first trial, then testified again in the 1990 post conviction evidentiary hearing. Mr. Hudson offered the transcripts of his December 13, 1990, 3.850 testimony, Defense Exhibit 2, R. X 106-200, filed on April 10, 1995, after the jury's recommendation and before sentencing.

Dr. Macaluso, a psychiatrist, evaluated Mr. Hudson during post conviction. He testified in the 1990 circuit court evidentiary hearing which resulted in the reversal of Mr. Hudson's initial death sentence. His December 14, 1990, hearing testimony was introduced as Defense Exhibit 3 on April 10, 1995. R. XI 201-272.

Dr. Wheaton, a psychologist, evaluated Mr. Hudson in preparation for the resentencing. He was deposed by the State on March 15, 1995. Mr. Hudson introduced the transcript of that deposition as Defense Exhibit 1 on April 10, 1995. R. X 42-105.

from the first trial which included the initial testimony of Dr. Berland.⁸

Timothy Curtis Hudson was born on December 1, 1964, the child of Daniel Marion Hudson and his wife Maggie. The parents were migrant citrus pickers. In 1968 Daniel got a job in Tampa at Westinghouse making \$3 an hour. The family then settled in Port Tampa at 7412 Gardner Street. Tim was about four-years-old. At that point there were four children, including some by one of the parents' previous marriages. R. VI 312-13, 323.

The Hudsons divorced in 1973 or 1974 when Tim was around ten years old. His sister recalled that the divorce "tore up" the family. R. VI 313, 335. At the time of the divorce Tim was the only son left in the home with their mother. R. VI 316. After the divorce the mother worked full time. R. VI 341.

While the marriage was intact it was the father who was the disciplinarian. When the family broke up the mother never was able to exercise any control over the kids. From the father's vantage point "it looked like the children just done what they wanted to ..." R. VI 314-15.

Tim stayed angry with both his parents about the divorce.

Defense Exhibit 4, R. XI 273-394. This included testimony from his mother Maggie Hudson, at 278-279; his father Daniel Hudson, at 279-282; from prison counselor Littleton Long, at 282-288; from Dr. Robert Berland, at 288-321; from Mr. Hudson's supervisor at **Bennigan's** Restaurant Mitchell Walker, at 322-323; from Little League Coach Charles Bedford, at 324-333; and from city recreation department coach Freddie Williams, at 334-336.

Ultimately there were a total of nine children in the family. Five were half brothers or half sisters. R. V 313.

His sister observed that he "really didn't care too much for [their father] after [the divorce]." Tim was particularly devastated by the divorce. R. VI 336, V 397-98.

Substance abuse problems ran all through the Hudson family. The father testified that his wife drank through most of their marriage and that her drinking escalated when they moved to Tampa in 1968. At first she drank beer, but in Tampa she moved to "heavier stuff," in particular vodka. R. VI 314. One of her children, Mr. Hudson's younger sister Deborah Hudson, recalls their mother drinking "[m]aybe a fifth a day" of vodka. Mr. Hudson did not want to be around the mother when she drank. R. VI 336-37. A friend of Mr. Hudson's sister, Kelly Doster, was also in the home to observe "his mother, she drank a lot and she would be . . . cursing, and . . . she would holler and fuss at the kids and stuff like that." R. VI 360. Closer to the time of this murder, Mr. Hudson's girlfriend Becky Collins had also observed the vodka bottles his mother routinely kept under her bed. R. V 201.

Two other older sons in addition to Mr. Hudson developed substance abuse problems. One was **an** alcoholic who also used crack cocaine, while the other **was a** heroin addict who, in the words of their father, "was shooting up." R. VI 315, 336.

The father first became aware that Mr. Hudson had a drug problem when Mr. Hudson's girlfriend, Becky Collins, came to him for help with it. R. VI 317. Later his mother found a beer can altered as a crack pipe which she brought to the father. R. VI

317 - 18.

The one escape Mr. Hudson developed from his miserable childhood was baseball. He wanted to play baseball early but his mother was opposed to it. His father intervened and Tim began to play Little League by about age 8 or 9. R. VI 316, 326. A retired military man, Charles Bedford, was a coach and the first black vice president of the South Palomino League. He recruited for the league in poor black neighborhoods which is how he met Timmy Hudson. Bedford either coached or was in a position to watch Tim throughout his Little League experience. Coach Bedford observed that baseball became very important to Tim "because that was where he had a feeling of belonging, a feeling he had something to look forward to." R. VI 324-28.

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