FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC SO 1996

CHIEF Deputy Clerk

TIMOTHY HUDSON,

vs.

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

CASE NO. 85,693

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE/

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

"THE COURT: Should we go ahead and bump these people like I do in ordinary cases, or do you want to question them?

MR. DONERLY: I have a right to question them. Let me confer with co-counsel."

(R18).

* * *

"MR. DONERLY: Let me talk to everybody and see if they're willing to let them go at this point.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Counsel conferring)

MR. DONERLY: I'm authorized to let them go, but I would certainly like to hear what Number 6 says. She's one of the two blacks in the first twelve.

THE COURT: I'll hold off until we finish with her."

(R18-19).

After further inquiry in open court with prospective juror Griffith, she along with Motes, Downs, and Hearsum were excused (R20-21).

No complaint was advanced that appellant was absent or unable to participate. Relief is unavailable. Boyett v. State. So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S535 (Fla. 1996).

- (2) During the prosecutor's closing argument, defense counsel objected and approached the bench. The court listened to the defense objection and ruled that the defense could respond in closing argument (R521). No request was make for appellant to also appear at the bench.
- (3) At the close of Officer Bush's testimony, defense counsel approached the bench to interject objection and to correct typographical errors on exhibits. Defense counsel did not object to the admissibility of Exhibit 2 (R286-288). No request was made

or objection submitted to appellant's presence at the bench conference.

Appellant was not denied the right to be present at any critical stage; moreover, his failure to invoke his right to be present at a bench conference should operate as a waiver. Cf. <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985). Moreover, as Gaanon, supra, notes the presence of a defendant is a condition of due process to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence and to that extent only. 84 L.Ed.2d at 490. Appellant was present in court and even if he did not step up to the bench conference, his presence was not mandated to insure a fair and just hearing. See, e.g., Hall v. Wainwright, 805 F.2d 945 (11th Cir. 1986); Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986); Hodges v. State, 595 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1992); Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988); Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1988); Coney v. State, 653 S.2d 1009, 1012-1013 (Fla. 1995); United States v. Provenzano, 620 F.2d 985 (3rd Cir. 1980); United States v. Gradskv, 434 F.2d 880 (5th Cir. 1970). See also Wrisht v. State, So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S498 (Fla. 1996) (bench conference initiated by defense counsel to discuss a prosecutor's "doodling" was not a critical stage requiring the presence of the

defendant at the bench; especially where defense counsel gave no hint that his client wished to be present).

ISSUE XII

WHETHER RULINGS BY THE TRIAL COURT DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL.

Appellant correctly points out that a number of pretrial motions were filed and received adverse rulings by the lower court. Since appellant makes no effort to present legal argument on this claim in support of his contention that judicial error occurred, the point must be deemed barred and abandoned. See <u>Duest v. Duager</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ('Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to be waived."); <u>Kight v. Duager</u>, 574 So.2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990); see also <u>Polyglycoat</u> Corporation v. Hirsch <u>Distributors</u>, Inc., 442 So.2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) ("It is the duty of counsel to prepare appellate briefs so as to acquaint the Court with the material facts, the points of law involved, and the legal arguments supporting the positions of the respective parties").

Appellee notes that many of the pretrial motions alluded to are routine, pro forma contentions which have been routinely denied and rejected by trial courts and this Court.

ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD AND IMPROPERLY APPLIED IN THIS CASE,

Appellant's pretrial motion challenging on vagueness and overbreadth grounds the prior violent felony aggravator and the instruction was denied (R213-219, R613). The defense did not propose an alternative instruction. Appellee respectfully submits that appellant's failure to propose what he perceived to be a satisfactory jury instruction should be deemed a procedural default precluding appellate review.

Additionally, appellant does not have standing to complain that the prior felony conviction aggravator has been impermissibly interpreted to include convictions pending appeal or to include contemporaneous violent felony conviction since neither condition describes Hudson's circumstance. Appellant was convicted in 1982 of sexual battery on Linda Benjamin. Cf. Moorehead v. State, 383 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1980) (rejecting constitutional challenge where argument did not apply to the facts of the case).

The challenged aggravator does not contain any vague terms, unlike the former HAC instruction, which would not be understood by the jury. Cf. Whitton v. State, 649 So.2d 861, 867, n 10 (Fla. 1994). Finally, this Court has consistently rejected

Constitutional challenges to the death penalty statute. See, e.g., Hunter v. State, 660 So.2d 244, 252-253 (Fla. 1995); Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 384 (Fla. 1994); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So.2d 784, 794, n 7 (Fla. 1992).

ISSUE XIV

WHETHER THE JURY WAS IMPROPERLY LED TO BELIEVE THAT THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACTIONS RESTED ELSEWHERE.

Appellant next complains that the trial court instructed the jury that the final decision as to what punishment should be imposed was the court's responsibility (Vol. VII, R543). The court also instructed the jury it was their duty to provide an advisory sentence based on whether sufficient aggravating circumstances existed and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances existed to outweigh the aggravating, that their advisory sentence was to be based on the evidence (R543-544) and that:

'The fact that the determination of whether you recommend a sentence of death or sentence of life imprisonment in this case can be reached by a single ballot should not influence you to act hastily or without due regard to the gravity of these proceedings. Before you ballot, you should carefully weight, sift and consider the evidence, and all of it, realizing that a human life is at stake, and bring to bear your best judgment in reaching your advisory sentence."

(R549).

Appellant's complaint regarding the court's instruction must fail because it is meritless. The trial court's instruction did not improperly diminish the jury's role nor was it erroneous.

Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1988); Combs v. State, 525

So.2d 855 (Fla. 1988); <u>Harich v. Dugger</u>, 844 F.2d 1464, 1473-1474 (11th Cir. 1988).

With respect to the challenges now made to the comments during voir dire inquiry (R IV, 3, 55-57, 79, 104), suffice it to say there was no objection to the Court's observation at R3 (which merely mentioned the jury would recommend life without parole or death) and the other remarks were made by defense counsel inquiring as to their thoughts on a recommendation that would be given great weight.¹⁰

¹⁰It was not the prosecutor but defense counsel Donerly who made the remark cited at R93.

ISSUE XV

WHETHER THE DEATH PENALTY CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN THAT IT IS APPLIED IN AN ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS FASHION.

Appellant does not identify where in the trial court record he has preserved for appellate review by objection or complaint below this argument. If he did not urge it below, it must be deemed procedurally barred. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990).

Even if the claim had been preserved, it would be meritless. This Court has repeatedly and consistently rejected similar attacks on the death penalty statute. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995); Hunter v. State, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995); Thompson v. State, 619 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1993); Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994); Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994). See also, Taylor v. State, 638 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1994); Stewart v. State, 588 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1991); Gamble v. State, 659 So.2d 242, 246 (Fla. 1995); Pope v. State, So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S357 (Fla. 1996); Sims v. State, So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S320 (Fla. 1996); Williamson v. State, So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S383 (Fla. 1996).

ISSUE XVI

WHETHER THE INSTANT TRIAL WAS FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS.

Appellant contends that the 'sheer number and types of error involved in his resentencing" (Brief, p. 96) require reversal. Since he does not with specificity identify them here, appellee urges this Court to reject the claim. There are no errors singly or in combination that mandate reversal. Accordingly, the sentence of death must be affirmed.¹¹

¹¹At page 99 of his brief appellant indicates that there are other unstated claims. The failure to brief them constitutes an abandonment and procedural default. See <u>Duest v. Duaser</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 851-852 (Fla. 1990).

CROSS-APPEAL ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE HAC FACTOR.

The lower court erred in concluding that the law of the case doctrine precluded the state from urging the applicability of the HAC aggravator (Vol VIII, R492). This Court has held that the clean slate rule is applicable to resentencing proceedings.

"Applying these principles to the case before us, we find that no double jeopardy occurred. Bullington is violation applicable because neither the trial judge nor this Court on review found that the State failed to prove its case that the defendant deserved the death penalty. Because there was no acquittal of the death penalty, the State not barred from resubmitting aggravating factors not found by the judge in the original penalty phase proceeding. See also Zant v. Redd, 249 Ga. 211, 290 S.E.2d 36 (1982) (if death-sentenced defendant overturns sentence on technical grounds, the sentence is nullified and the State and defense start on resentencing the State may offer any evidence aggravating circumstances, on including those submitted to the first jury but not listed by the jury in support of the death sentence), cert. denied. 463 U.S. 1213, 103 S.Ct. 3552, 77 L.Ed.2d 1398 (1983); 118 N.J. 513, Koedatich, **572** A.2d 622 (1990) (double jeopardy did not prevent State upon resentencing from relying on aggravating factors not unanimously found by the jury in the initial sentencing proceeding); Hopkinson State, 664 P.2d 43 (Wvo.)(allowing ٧. consider resentencing jury to evidence concerning aggravating circumstances deemed inapplicable in first penalty hearing did not violate double jeopardy), cert. denied. 464 U.S. 908, 104 S.Ct. 262, 78 L.Ed.2d 246 (1983). Contra State v. Silhan, 302 N.C. 223, 275 S.E.2d 450 (1981) (if upon defendant's appeal of death sentence, the case is remanded for a new sentencing hearing, the State is precluded from relying on any aggravating circumstances of which it offered insufficient evidence at the hearing appealed from).

This Court has applied the "clean slate" rule to resentencing proceedings. We have held that a resentencing is a completely new proceeding and a resentencing judge is not obligated to find mitigating circumstances found by the first judge. See King v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 355, 358 (Fla.1990). See Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla.1986) (resentencing should proceed de novo on all issues bearing on the proper sentence). King, we held that "a mitigating circumstance in one proceeding is not an 'ultimate fact' that collateral estoppel or the law of the would preclude being rejected case resentencing." King, at 358. Moreover, we have held that a trial judge may properly apply the law and is not bound in remand proceedings by a prior legal error. Spaziano State, 433 So.2d 508, 511 (Fla.1983), aff 'd, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984).

Preston does not suggest that a resentencing judge is bound by a prior judge's rejection of mitigating circumstances. The resentencing judge here found Preston's age to be a mitigating factor while the original trial judge rejected that factor. Nor does Preston advance any basis for distinguishing between that situation and the finding of an aggravating circumstance on resentencing that was not found by the original sentencer. The

basic premise of the sentencing procedure is that the sentencer consider all relevant evidence regarding the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant to determine the appropriate punishment. See Sec. 921.141(1), Fla.Stat. (1989). This is only accomplished by allowing a resentencing to proceed in every respect as an entirely new proceeding. (FN2)

Preston v. State, 607 So.2d
404, 408-409 (Fla. 1992).

Accord, <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 473, 477 (Fla. 1993) ("... because a resentencing is a totally new proceeding, the resentencing court is not bound by the original court's findings");

Merck v State, 664 So.2d 939, 945 (Fla. 1995) (J. Wells, concurring).

The trial court erred in concluding that the law of the case doctrine had any applicability whatsoever herein. As explained in Florida Jurisprudence 2d Appellate Review § 414 - 415, pp. 566-568:

§ 414. In general; definition

"Law of the case" refers to the principle that the questions of law decided on appeal to a_court_of_ul_timate_resort_must_govern_the case in the same court and the trial court through all subsequent stages of proceeding. Or, as otherwise stated, whatever is once established between the same parties in the same case continues to be the law of the case, whether correct on principles or not, so long as the facts on which such decision was predicated continue to the facts of the case. 76 Generally, therefore, when a reviewing court in deciding

a case states in its opinion a principle or rule necessary to the decision, that principle or rule becomes the law of that case. 77 and must be adhered to throughout all subsequent stages and proceedings, 78 both in the lower court 79 and upon any succeeding appeal, 80 although it would be wrong to say that an appellate court is wholly without authority to reconsider and reverse a previous ruling that is "the law of the case. 81 Such principles or rules adjudicated by an appellate court. Therefore, are ordinarily no longer open for discussion and consideration. 82 This is true also where questions are decided on an appeal from an interlocutory order. 83

The general doctrine of the law of the case applies equally to appeals from inferior courts. For example, where a judgment of the Circuit Court on appeal reversed judgment of a lower court which had entered a final judgment against the plaintiff on a demurrer, such judgment settled the law of the case to the extent that if the plaintiff proved its case as alleged and if no countervailing defense were offered and established, the plaintiff was entitled to recovery.84

§ 415. Distinguished from stare decisis and res judicata

'Law of the case" is а application of the doctrine of res judicata. The latter means that the judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction directly rendered on a particular issue is conclusive as to the parties and the issues decided in the same or any other controversy. The former applies only between parties to an appeal proceedings subsequent to the appeal as to such questions as were considered and decided on the appeal.85

(emphasis supplied).

This Court on Hudson's last appeal did not settle the question of law, which would be binding on remand to the circuit court, as to whether the HAC aggravating factor was appropriate to be applied. Thus, there was no law of the case binding on the trial court. The instant case is in contrast to cases like Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1994), where the court had previously resolved on appeal a suppression hearing issue.

The trial court erred in concluding that the state was barred by the law of the case doctrine from urging the applicability of the HAC statutory aggravating factor and the court should enter its order on the instant cross-appeal reversing that determination.

CROSS-APPEAL ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE INSTANT HOMICIDE WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL.

This Court has consistently upheld a finding of HAC where the victim has been killed with multiple stab wounds. See Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987); Nibert v. State, 508 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1987); Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1986); Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986); Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988); Floyd v. State, 569 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1990); Haliburton v. State, 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990); Pittman v. State, 646 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1994).

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